1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

2
3 **No. 74581**

Electronically Filed
May 31 2018 10:47 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

4
5 **CALVIN ELAM**
6 Appellant,

7 v.

8 **THE STATE OF NEVADA**
9 Respondent.

10 Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction
11 Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
12 The Honorable Valerie Adair, District Court Judge
 District Court Case No. C-15-305949-1

13 **APPELLANT’S OPENING BRIEF**

14
15 Thomas Ericsson, Esq.
16 Nevada Bar No. 4982
17 Rachael E. Stewart, Esq.
18 Oronoz & Ericsson, LLC
19 1050 Indigo, Suite 120
20 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
21 Telephone: (702) 878-2889
22 Facsimile: (702) 522-1542
23 tom@oronozlawyers.com

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On April 17, 2015, a grand jury charged Appellant Calvin Elam with the following crimes: (1) Conspiracy to Commit Kidnapping; (2) First Degree Kidnapping with Use of a Deadly Weapon; (3) Assault with a Deadly Weapon; (4) Unlawful Use of an Electronic Stun Device; (5) Battery with Intent to Commit Sexual Assault; (6) Sexual Assault with Use of a Deadly Weapon; (7) Attempt Sexual Assault with Use of a Deadly Weapon; and (8) Ownership or Possession of Firearm by Prohibited Person. AA0001.

Appellant Elam proceeded to trial on June 19, 2017, and the jury rendered guilty verdicts on Counts 1, 2, 3, and 5 on June 27, 2017. The jury rendered not guilty verdicts on Counts 4, 6, and 7. AA1113-14. The State elected not to proceed on Count 8, and the State requested that the district court dismiss Count 8.

On October 19, 2017, the District Court sentenced the Appellant as follows: Count 1- 24 to 72 months in NDOC; Count 2- 5 years to Life in prison, plus a consecutive term of 60 to 180 months for the use of a deadly weapon, Count 2 to run concurrent with Count 1; Count 3- 12 to 72 months in NDOC, Count 3 to run consecutive to Count 2; Count 5- 2 years to Life in prison, Count 5 to run consecutive to Count 3. Counts 4, 6, and 7 are dismissed. Count 8 was

1 dismissed without prejudice. AA1126. The aggregate total sentence is 13 years to
2 Life in prison.

3 The District Court imposed a special sentence of lifetime supervision upon
4 release of any term of imprisonment, probation, or parole. Additionally, the
5 Appellant must register as a sex offender after release from custody. The District
6 Court filed the Judgment of Conviction on October 31, 2017. AA1126.

8 Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on November 13, 2017.
9 AA1129.

10
11 **VII.**
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

12 The jury found Mr. Elam guilty of four counts, acquitted him of three
13 counts, and the State of Nevada voluntarily dismissed one count. As outlined in
14 detail below, there were many substantial inconsistencies in the testimony of
15 Arrie Webster, the main witness presented against Mr. Elam at trial.

16 The following evidence was presented at Mr. Elam's trial:

17
18 1. **Arrie Webster**: testified that in the around 11 am or 12 pm on March
19 10, 2015, she visited her friends Annie and Pamela, who live in apartments very
20 near to Mr. Elam. AA0559 and AA0557. Ms. Webster testified that she saw Mr.
21 Elam, and she said, "What's up?" And Mr. Elam motioned for her to come over
22 to his apartment. AA0560. Mr. Elam was standing outside his apartment at the
23 time. *Id.* She further testified that she had previously been to Mr. Elam's
24

1 apartment prior to the day of the alleged criminal activity (AA0563) and that she
2 would refer to Mr. Elam as “Cuz” or “cousin” because Mr. Elam had children
3 with Ms. Webster’s cousin by marriage, Joanique Mack. AA0565-66.

4 On the day of the incident, Ms. Webster wanted to explain to Mr. Elam
5 that she did not have anything to do with the disappearance of two dogs Mr. Elam
6 had been missing from a few days earlier. AA0567-68 and AA0569. She testified
7 that when she got to his apartment, Mr. Elam was in the apartment, and she
8 walked into the kitchen, and Mr. Elam accused her of being involved with the
9 disappearance of his dogs. AA0570. She said that he became loud and aggressive
10 and he told her to turn around and get on her knees. AA0571. She testified that
11 Mr. Elam tied her up with “electrical cords and tape, and stuffed my mouth with
12 – with fabric and covered my eyes up, and then finished it with a pillow case.”
13 AA0572. She alleged that her “arms were tied behind my back connected to my
14 feet.” *Id.*

15 The prosecutor then prompted Ms. Webster by asking:

16 Q: You said that he had put stuff in your mouth and tape
17 around you. Before he did that, did he do something else?

18 A: I mean, before he did that he –

19 Q: Did he put something else in your mouth?

20 A: At what particular time? I mean, the –

21 Q: You tell me.

22 A: Okay. Yes, he did, and it was – it was the gun.

23 AA0573.

1 She testified that Mr. Elam then called another male, and two or three
2 women to come over to his apartment. AA0575.

3 At the trial, she testified that after the other people arrived, they began
4 videotaping the assault on Ms. Webster. She testified that Mr. Elam beat her with
5 a belt and tased her with a taser. AA0578. She testified on direct examination that
6 Mr. Elam was the only one who struck her with a belt, the only one who used a
7 taser on her, and the only one who assaulted her with a broomstick. AA0578-79
8 and AA0581. She testified that her shorts and underwear were pulled down and
9 she was beaten with a belt on her bare skin. AA0584. She testified that she was
10 threatened with a broomstick and that she “was exhausted” and blanked out when
11 she thought she might be assaulted with the broomstick. AA0580-81. She testified
12 that she was tied up and assaulted for “at least a couple of hours.” AA0581.
13
14

15 She testified that she thought she might be assaulted with the broomstick,
16 but she didn’t know if she was because “she passed out” and she doesn’t
17 remember. AA0583.
18

19 She testified on direct that she escaped the apartment when she no longer
20 could hear anyone in the apartment. AA0586.

21 On cross-examination, Ms. Webster testified that on the day of the alleged
22 incident she filled out a handwritten voluntary statement. AA0612. She
23 acknowledged after reviewing her voluntary statement that she did not mention
24

1 anything about being threatened with a gun, having a gun placed in her mouth, or
2 being threatened with a broomstick. AA0613.

3 She testified that she remembered being interviewed by Detective Nelson.
4 AA0616. She told Det. Nelson, when talking about the alleged use of a
5 broomstick, "He – they didn't put no penetration. . . . But they, like, act like they
6 wanted to do it. You know, I thought they were going to do it." AA0621, ll. 4-20.
7 She also told Det. Nelson, when he asked if the suspects had sexually assaulted
8 her, "No, but I just thought they would." AA0626-27.

9
10 She testified that she told Det. Nelson that the paramedics "saw marks on
11 [her] rear end from being whipped with a belt" (AA0622) and that she was hit
12 with a belt "over 25 times." AA0623. She told Det. Nelson that she thought she
13 had been tased "six or seven times" (AA0624) on "my legs, back of my neck, my
14 back." AA0626, ll. 2-4. She further testified that she told Det. Nelson that it was
15 the other alleged male suspect who threatened her with a broomstick, rather than
16 Mr. Elam. AA0624, ll. 13-18.

17
18 She testified that she was examined by a UMC nurse on March 12, 2015
19 (two days after the alleged incident).

20
21 She testified that she was then interviewed by female Detective Ryland
22 about the allegations.

1 2. **Bradley Grover**: He is a senior crime scene analyst with LVMPD.
2 AA0672. He was asked to take photographs of the alleged victim on the March
3 10, 2015, the date of the alleged incident. AA0705. He believes he was made
4 aware that Ms. Webster alleged she had been beaten by a belt. He was not asked
5 to take “photographs attempting to document any injury from the beating.”
6 AA0707. He did not recall being asked to try to take photos related to any tasing
7 injuries on Ms. Webster. AA0707.
8

9 3. **Theodore Weirach**: LVMPD robbery detective. AA0714.
10 He interviewed Appellant Elam during the investigation. At the time of the
11 interview, Mr. Elam was at the LVMPD headquarters building in an interview
12 room and handcuffed and chained to a bar attached to the table in the interview
13 room. AA0715-16.
14

15 Mr. Weirach read Mr. Elam a *Miranda* warning from a LVMPD issued
16 card that had been updated by the time Mr. Weirach was testifying at the trial.
17 Mr. Weirach testified he read the warning to Mr. Elam from the old card he had
18 been issued. He testified he believed that the change between the old card read to
19 Mr. Elam and the new card Mr. Weirach had with him at the trial was that the
20 new card added the language “you have the right to consult with an attorney
21 before questioning.” AA0718, ll. 17-25. Mr. Weirach testified that he did would
22
23
24

1 not have given that warning to Mr. Elam at the time he was questioned as Mr.
2 Weirach “would’ve read it just verbatim off the card of the day.” AA0719, ll. 1-2.

3 Detective Weirach testified that his updated *Miranda* card read as follows
4 on the day he testified at trial:

5
6 You have the right to remain silent. Anything you say can be used
7 against you in a court of law. You have the right to consult with an
8 attorney before questioning. You have the right to the presence of an
9 attorney during questioning. If you cannot afford an attorney, one will
be appointed to you before questioning. Do you understand these
rights?

10 The trial judge refused to suppress the statement Mr. Elam gave to the
11 police. AA0719.

12 4. **Heather Gouldthorpe**: is a forensic scientist in the latent print unit in
13 the LVMPD forensic laboratory. AA0760. She was not able to recover any latent
14 fingerprints that could be compared with any known samples. AA0075-76.

15
16 5. **Jeri Dermanelian**: is a sexual assault nurse examiner. AA0818. She
17 performed an examination of Arrie Webster on March 12, 2015, at the University
18 Medical Center in Las Vegas, Nevada. AA0827. Ms. Dermanelian personally
19 interviewed Ms. Webster. AA0861. In the “history of the event,” Ms.
20 Dermanelian reported that Ms. Webster stated the male “forced penis, finger, and
21 tongue to her vagina.” AA0862, ll., 3-6.

22
23 Ms. Dermanelian asked Ms. Webster, “Was there oral penetration with a
24 penis or other object?” Ms. Webster answered, No. AA0862, ll. 7-12.

1 Ms. Dermanelian checked the boxes on the interview sheet indicating that
2 the alleged victim reported that she was vaginally penetrated by a penis, by a
3 finger, by a tongue, and “possible broomstick.” AA0862-63.

4 Ms. Dermanelian did a visual inspection of Ms. Webster’s body. When
5 asked, “Did you observe any marks on her rear end that would indication to you a
6 possible beating with a belt?” Ms. Dermanelian replied, “No. She had no bruises
7 or contusions or lacerations . . . on her buttocks.” AA0863, ll. 20-24. Ms.
8 Dermanelian used a special light tool in examining Ms. Webster for injuries and
9 still did not see any injuries to Ms. Webster’s vaginal area, rectal area, or rear
10 end. AA.0864. Ms. Dermanelian did a “head to toe” examination and “did not see
11 any signs of injuries that would have been caused by a Taser.” AA0868, ll. 2-7.

12 Ms. Webster declined to give a urine sample during the examination.
13
14 AA0866.

15
16 6. **Detective Jesse Ryland**: is a LVMPD detective with the sexual assault
17 section. She interviewed Ms. Webster, with another female detective, on March
18 13, 2015 [three days after the alleged incident]. AA0895. Ms. Webster told her
19 that Ms. Webster “smoked spice and methamphetamine” and, on the day of the
20 interview, Ms. Webster estimated that she had used methamphetamine “four to
21 five days earlier”. AA0897.

7. **Detective Jason Nelson**: is a LVMPD detective. He interviewed Ms. Webster on the day of the alleged incident. At the trial, he reviewed the AMR report from the medical examination conducted by AMR personnel on the day of the alleged incident. AA1004. He testified that the AMR report did not identify injuries consistent with a beating with a belt or tasing with a stun gun. AA1005.

VIII. ARGUMENT

1. The trial court abused its discretion when it denied Appellant's motion to remove a prospective juror for bias in favor of law enforcement.

Under the fifth, sixth, and fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution, a criminal defendant is entitled to be tried by an impartial jury. U.S. Const. amend. VI (“In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury....”); U.S. Const. amend. V (“No person ... shall ... be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law....”); U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1 (“[No State shall] deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law....”); *Ristaino v. Ross*, 424 U.S. 589, 595 n. 6, 96 S.Ct. 1017, 1020 n. 6, 47 L.Ed.2d 258 (1976) (“Principles of due process ... guarantee a defendant an impartial jury.”); *Smith v. Phillips*, 455 U.S. 209, 217, 102 S.Ct. 940, 946, 71 L.Ed.2d 78 (1982) (“Due process means a jury capable and willing to decide the case solely on the evidence before it....”).

1 During *voir dire* of the prospective jury panel, the following questions and
2 answers were presented:

3 Defense Counsel: . . . You've heard me ask lots of questions
4 about evaluating the testimony of police officers; how would you
5 personally go about doing that if you were called to serve on this jury?

6 Prospective Juror No. 395: Yeah, and I've thought about this
7 because one of the things that I in my job is expected to have a high
8 level of integrity, high level of honesty, fairness, because you also, as a
9 project manager, we have to deal with a lot of different things,
10 sometimes conflict, a lot of times resolution. I have those qualities –

11 Defense Counsel: Uh-huh.

12 Prospective Juror No. 395: -- very proud of them, and I believe I
13 would be able to use them here.

14 Defense Counsel: Okay. Do you feel that you would be able to
15 evaluate the testimony of police officers like you would any other type
16 of person testifying in the case?

17 Prospective Juror No. 395: You know, and I've heard this before,
18 I would think and I would expect that Metro would have a little higher
19 integrity than the normal common person that walks the streets. So
20 again, I would start out with that in mind, and if there was some reason
21 to lower that in my mind from things that say or, you know, things that
22 have been proven, then that would lower. But it's higher than normal
23 in my opinion.

24 Defense Counsel: Okay. And that's a fair, fair answer. So is it
accurate to say then, that a police officer would, in your mind, start with
a higher level of credibility than somebody off of the street?

Prospective Juror No. 395: Correct.

Defense Counsel: Okay. So if all things being equal from two
witnesses, if everything else that the said you matched up and it seemed
similar but one was a police officer and one was not, you would believe
the police officer over the other witness?

Prospective Juror No. 395: I would unless something made me
change my mind.

AA0453-0054.

Defense counsel asked additional questions of Prospective Juror No. 395 on
other topics and then asked the trial judge to remove the prospective juror for cause

1 at an unrecorded bench conference. AA00456. The trial judge asked defense counsel
2 to place the motion to remove on the record outside the presence of the jury which
3 is recorded below:

4 Court: We're on the record out of the presence of the jury.

5 And, Mr. Ericsson, you wanted to make a record regarding jury
6 selection and your challenge for cause, which was denied by the Court.

7 Defense Counsel: Thank you, Your Honor. Yes. I had at the
8 bench done a challenge for cause on potential juror, Badge No. 13-
9 0395, named [KPD]. He was the individual – another one who indicated
10 that he would basically believe the testimony of a police officer over
11 somebody – a nonpolice officer if all other factors were the same, and
12 it was my position that that bias that he has towards the testimony of
13 law enforcement would make him an inappropriate juror for this type
14 of case.

15 At the bench you had denied the motion – the motion to strike or
16 remove for cause, and so we had to exercise one of our peremptory
17 challenges on that prospective juror.

18 Court: Ms. Luzaich.

19 CDDA Luzaich: All he said was that – the question was if all else
20 was equal and one police officer and nonpolice officer testified, would
21 you believe the police officer, and he said, yes, unless there was –
22 unless there was something different or whatever. So he qualified that,
23 and pretty much anybody on the planet, except for potentially a
24 defendant, would say the same thing. So I don't think that it rises to a
challenge for cause.

25 Court: Yeah, that's how I heard it. That if everything else was
26 equal between the witnesses, he would favor the police officer if
27 everything else was equal, but if there was a reason that – not to believe
28 the police officer, he wouldn't. So I – you know, that would be things
29 like inconsistencies and ability to perceive, whatever. So I don't think
30 it rose to the level of a for-cause challenge.

31 AA0545-0546.

32 The instant trial involved the critical testimony of numerous detectives, patrol
33 officers, crime scene analysts, and DNA technicians. The clear, stated bias that
34

1 Prospective Juror 395 had in favor of the testimony of police officers due to their
2 position and the trial court's refusal to remove the prospective juror for cause due to
3 the bias is a clear violation of Appellant Elam's right to be tried by an impartial jury.
4 Mr. Elam's counsel was forced to waste a peremptory challenge on Prospective Juror
5 395 due to the trial judge's refusal to remove for cause. This prejudiced Mr. Elam's
6 right to a fair trial and requires a new trial.
7

8 **2. The district court abused its discretion by eliciting and allowing**
9 **extremely prejudicial hearsay evidence to be presented to the jury.**

10 During the testimony of Ms. Webster, the trial judge accepted and asked a
11 juror question and the following testimony was presented:

12 Court: All right. We have some juror questions up here, in no
13 particular order. How did you know the defendant suspected you of
taking his dogs?

14 Webster: He paid a visit to a friend which was Edward Brown,
the neighbor that stayed a building – well, the next building to him –

15 Court: Okay.

16 Webster: -- and he went over there and kicked the door in.

17 Court: And did –

18 Ms. Luzaich: Um –

19 Court: – did then Mr. Brown tell you that the defendant
suspected you of taking the dogs?

20 Defense counsel: Objection, Your Honor. Her response, and
that would be hearsay from Mr. Brown.

21 Court: Well, based on something Mr. Brown told you, is that
why you went to explain the dogs to –

22 It's not being offered for hearsay purpose, Counsel.

23 Webster: Well, I went to a friend's house, and they was like,
Calvin –

24 Court: Oh –

Webster: -- came over here and kicked the door in, put a – put
the shotgun –

1 Court: Okay. Well, wait a minute. Did you – let me –
2 Defense counsel: Your Honor, if we may –
3 Court: -- move on. That is hearsay. So it's sustained.

4 AA0649-50.

5 **Bad Act Evidence Is Presumed Inadmissible**

6 A presumption of inadmissibility attaches to all prior bad act evidence.

7 *Rosky v. State*, 121 Nev. 184, 111 P.3d 690 (2005). The principal concern with
8 admitting this type of evidence is that the jury will be unduly influenced by it and
9 convict a defendant simply because he is a bad person. *Walker v. State*, 116 Nev.
10 442, 997 P.2d 803 (2000). The presumption of inadmissibility cannot be overcome
11 until the District Court conducts a hearing outside the presence of the jury and
12 establishes that (1) the prior bad act is relevant to the crime charged; (2) the act is
13 proven by clear and convincing evidence; and (3) the probative value of the prior
14 bad act is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the
15 defendant. *See, Petrocelli v. State*, 101 Nev. 46, 51-52, 692 P.2d 503 (1985),
16 superseded in part by statute as stated in *Thomas v. State*, 120 Nev. 37, 44–45, 83
17 P.3d 818, 823 (2004). Even where the state can overcome its burden of
18 inadmissibility as to prongs 1 and 2, the evidence may still be inadmissible where
19 the probative value of the prior bad act is substantially outweighed by the danger
20 of unfair prejudice to the defendant. *Daly v. State*, 99 Nev. 564, 567, 665 P.2d 798
21 (1983).
22
23
24

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