IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Jul 31 2018 12:51 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CALVIN ELAM,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 74581

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

THOMAS ERICSSON, ESQ. Nevada bar #004982 RACHEL E. STEWART, ESQ. Nevada Bar #014122 Oronoz & Ericsson, LLC 1050 Indigo, Suite 120 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 (702) 878-2889 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant claims the District Court improperly denied his for cause challenge to a prospective juror. However, the record shows that the prospective juror demonstrated that he could be fair and impartial. Next, Appellant argues that the District Court improperly elicited hearsay and bad act evidence from a witness. This claim is belied by the record. Moreover, Appellant's objection was sustained, therefore any error was cured. Additionally, Appellant complains the District Court erred when it allowed Appellant's statement to be presented at trial because he was

not given a proper Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 479, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 1630 (1966) warning. This argument is without merit because the warning Appellant received was nearly identical to a warning this Court has upheld as valid. Lastly, Appellant argues there was cumulative error. However, because there was no error, there were no errors to cumulate.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE

"Jury selection is 'particularly within the province of the trial judge." Skilling v. United States, 561 U.S. 358, 362, 130 S. Ct. 2896, 2902 (2010) (quoting Ristaino v. Ross, 424 U.S. 589, 594-595, 96 S. Ct. 1017 (1975)). "Decisions concerning the scope of voir dire and the manner in which it is conducted are reviewable only for abuse of discretion." Hogan v. State, 103 Nev. 21, 23, 732 P.2d 422, 423 (1987). On appeal, how a court chooses to conduct voir dire is given "considerable deference." Lamb v. State, 127 Nev. 26, 37, 251 P.3d 700, 707 (2011) (quoting Johnson v. State, 122 Nev. 1344, 1355, 148 P.3d 767, 774 (2006)). "The purpose of jury voir dire is to discover whether a juror will consider and decide the facts impartially and conscientiously apply the law as charged by the court." Johnson, 122 Nev. at 1354, 148 P.3d at 774 (quoting Witter v. State, 112 Nev. 908, 914, 921 P.2d 886, 891 (1996)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

A prospective juror may be challenged for cause for any reason "which would prevent the juror from adjudicating the facts fairly." NRS 175.036. However, a juror may not be removed if the record as a whole demonstrates that the prospective juror could "lay aside his impression or opinion and render a verdict based on the evidence presented in court." Blake v. State, 121 Nev. 779, 795, 121 P.3d 567, 577 (2005). Because the district court is "better able to view a prospective juror's demeanor," the district court enjoys "broad discretion" in ruling on challenges for cause. Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 67, 17 P.3d 397, 406 (2001).

Appellant argues that the District Court abused its discretion when it denied his demand to remove a prospective juror for cause because of an alleged bias towards law enforcement. AOB at 11. The District Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's for-cause challenges against Prospective Juror 395, Keith Doering (hereinafter "Doering"). The District Court explained Doering conveyed his ability to be fair and impartial. 3 AA 545-546. Doering was examined at great length regarding his ability to be impartial. The following is part of the dialogue that took place between the State and Doering:

Ms. Luzaich: Okay. Fair enough. You sound like a pretty upfront, straightforward kind of guy. Are you the kind of person who thinks everything is black and white, or do you recognize any gray?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 395: I have to deal with a lot of gray in my day-to-day work responsibilities, so I understand there are different shades of gray also.

MS. LUZAICH: Okay. Would you consider yourself to be a fair and open-minded person?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 395: I am.

MS. LUZAICH: Would you be a good juror?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 395: I can sit here and say I hope to be.

MS. LUZAICH: Do you believe that you have the qualities that it would take to be a good juror?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 395: Definitely.

2 AA 447.

Appellant points to the following exchange as the reasoning for why Doering should have been struck for cause:

MR. ERICSSON: Okay. Do you feel that you would be able to evaluate the testimony of police officers like you would any other type of person testifying in this case?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 395: You know, and I've heard this before, I would think and I would expect that Metro would have a little higher integrity than the normal common person that walks the streets. So again, I would start out with that in mind, and if there was some reason to lower that in my mind from things they say or, you know, things that have been proven, then that would be lower. But it's higher than normal in my opinion.

MR. ERICSSON: Okay. And that's a fair, fair answer. So is it accurate to say then, that a police officer would, in your mind, start with a higher level of credibility than somebody off the street?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 395: Correct.

MR. ERICSSON: Okay. So if all things being equal from two witnesses, if everything else that they said you matched up and it seemed similar but one was a police officer and one was not, you would believe the police officer over the other witness?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO 395: I would unless something made me change my mind.

2 AA 453-454.

Defense counsel explained that Doering should have been struck for cause because the "bias he has towards the testimony of law enforcement would make him an inappropriate juror for this type of case." 3 AA 545. The Court and the State then had the following exchange:

MS. LUZAICH: All he said was that—the question was if all else was equal and one police officer and one nonpolice officer testified, would you believe the police officer, and he said, yes, unless there was—unless there was something different or whatever. So he qualified that, and pretty much anybody on the planet, except for potentially a defendant, would say the same thing. So I don't think that it rises to a challenge for cause.

THE COURT: Yeah, that's how I heard it. That if everything else was equal between the witnesses, he would favor the police officer if everything else was equal, but if there was a reason that—not to believe the police officer, he wouldn't. So I—you know, that would be things like inconsistencies and ability to perceive, whatever. So I don't think it rose to the level of a for-cause challenge.

3 AA 545-546. Thus, Doering's answers, were nonetheless sufficient to assure the District Court that he would be able be fair and impartial in the case.

Additionally, Appellant argues that the Court committed reversible error in denying the challenge for cause because it forced him to use a peremptory challenge to remove Doering. AOB at 14. As explained by this Court, "[a] district court's erroneous denial of a challenge for cause is reversible error only if it results in an unfair empaneled jury." Preciado v. State, 130 Nev.___,__, 318 P.3d 176, 178 (2014) (citing Blake, 121 Nev. at 796, 121 P.3d at 578). Appellant does not argue that the jury actually seated in his case was biased or otherwise impartial. Accordingly, Appellant was not denied his right to an impartial jury. Blake, 121 Nev. at 796, 121 P.3d at 578 ("If the jury actually seated is impartial, the fact that a defendant had to use a peremptory challenge to achieve that result does not mean that the defendant was denied his right to an impartial jury.").

As to Appellant's contention that he had to use a peremptory challenge to remove Doering, he fails to explain how exactly he has been prejudiced by this. Specifically, Appellant does not explain who he would have wanted to remove by way of a peremptory challenge and was precluded from doing so because he "was forced to waste" a peremptory challenge on Doering. Therefore, the District Court did not abuse its discretion.

///

THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN II. **OUESTIONING A WITNESS**

This Court reviews the trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence for

an abuse of discretion. Holmes v. State, 129 Nev. , 306 P.3d 415, 418

(2013). District courts have "considerable" discretion in determining the

admissibility of evidence. Id. Further, this Court will only overturn the trial court's

decision if it is "manifestly wrong." <u>Id.</u> If this Court determines that admission was

error, it reviews for whether the error was harmless. Weber v. State, 121 Nev. 554,

579, 119 P.3d 107, 124 (2005); see Lincoln v. State, 115 Nev. 317, 321, 988 P.2d

305, 307 (1999). Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered to prove the truth of

the matter asserted. NRS 51.035.

Appellant contends that the Court elicited inadmissible and prejudicial

hearsay evidence from Webster. AOB at 14. The following exchange took place

between the Court and Webster:

THE COURT: All right. We have some juror questions

up here, in no particular order. How did you know the

defendant suspected you of taking his dogs?

THE WITNESS: He paid a visit to a friend which was

Edward Brown, the neighbor that stayed a building—

well, the next building to him—

THE COURT: Okay.

THE WITNESS: -- and he went over there and kicked the

door in.

THE COURT: And did—

20

MS. LUZAICH: Um—

THE COURT:--did then Mr. Brown tell you that the defendant suspected you of taking the dogs?

MR. ERICSSON: Objection, Your Honor. Her response, and that would be hearsay from Mr. Brown.

THE COURT: Well, based on something Mr. Brown told you, is that why you went to explain the dogs to— It's not being offered for hearsay purpose, counsel.

THE WITNESS: Well, I went to a friend's house, and they was like, Calvin—

THE COURT: Oh—

THE WITNESS: --came over here and kicked the door in, put a – put the shotgun—

THE COURT: Okay. Well, wait a minute. Did you—let me—

MR. ERICSSON: Your Honor, if we may—

THE COURT: --move on. That is hearsay. So it's sustained.

3 AA 649-650.

Before this question was asked by the Court, the parties approached for a bench conference to determine whether or not the questions could be read. 3 AA 649. The Court was appropriately asking a question from a juror. When the Court determined that the information was inadmissible hearsay, the Court ended the inquiry and sustained the objection. Therefore, the Court did not abuse its discretion.

However, even if this Court finds there was error, it was harmless. Pursuant to NRS 178.598, "any error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." See also Knipes v. State, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008) (noting that nonconstitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness based on whether it had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict). On the other hand, constitutional error is evaluated by the test laid forth in Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 828 (1967). The test under Chapman for constitutional trial error is "whether it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." Tavares v. State, 117 Nev. 725, 732 n.14, 30 P.3d 1128, 1132 n. 14 (2001). The statement made by Webster did not have a substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict due to the overwhelming evidence against Appellant. Webster testified in detail about the assault and beatings. 3 AA 572, 575, 581, 583-584. Furthermore, Gentile and Taylor corroborated the condition Webster was in when she came out of Appellant's apartment tied up and gagged. 3 AA 537-538; 4 AA 746-747. Webster's DNA was found on the barrel of the shotgun. 4 AA784. Grover documented the injuries on Webster's lips and legs. 3 AA 677-678. He found the pillowcase and tape used on Webster's face. 3 AA 684. He also collected the dark gray hose and black twine from the dumpster and Webster's missing shoe. 3 AA 688. Further, he found the shotgun, tape, broom, and

black and brown leather belt in Appellant's apartment. 3 AA 695, 698. Therefore, any error that occurred was harmless because the evidence against Appellant was overwhelming.

Next Appellant argues that this testimony constituted inadmissible bad act evidence. AOB at 15, 17. However, Appellant failed to make an objection regarding impermissible bad act evidence below, and only objected to the fact that the testimony constituted hearsay. 2 AA 650. Therefore, Appellant makes this argument for the first time on appeal without giving the District Court the opportunity to rule on the legal issue. Thus, Appellant waived all but plain error. Martinorellan v. State, 131 Nev. ___, __, 343 P.3d 590, 593 (2015); Maestas v. State, 128 Nev. ___, __, 275 P.3d 74, 89 (2012); Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003); Patterson v. State, 111 Nev. 1525, 1530, 907 P.2d 948, 987 (1995); Ford v. Warden, 111 Nev. 872, 884, 901 P.2d 123, 130 (1995). Plain error review asks:

To amount to plain error, the 'error must be so unmistakable that it is apparent from a casual inspection of the record.' <u>Vega v. State</u>, 126 Nev. ___, ___, 236 P.3d 632, 637 (2010) (quoting <u>Nelson</u>, 123 Nev. at 543, 170 P.3d at 524). In addition, "the defendant [must] demonstrate [] that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (quoting <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003))). Thus, reversal for plain error is only warranted if the error is readily apparent and the appellant demonstrates that the error was prejudicial to his substantial rights.

<u>Martinorellan</u>, 131 Nev. at ___, 343 P.3d at 594.

Evidence is not a prior bad act unless the evidence elicited speaks to chargeable collateral offenses. See Salgado v. State, 114 Nev. 1038, 1042-43, 968 P.2d 324, 326-27 (1998) (explaining that cases in which the evidence does not implicate prior bad acts or collateral offense on the defendant's part, a hearing is not required); Colon v. State, 113 Nev. 484, 494, 938 P.2d 714, 720 (1997) (hearing not required when State elicited testimony that defendant knew where marijuana was grown in her building, associated with drug dealers and bailed known drug user out of jail).

The Court read a juror question asking, "[h]ow did you know the defendant suspected you of taking his dogs?" Webster responded with the following:

THE COURT:--did then Mr. Brown tell you that the defendant suspected you of taking the dogs?

MR. ERICSSON: Objection, Your Honor. Her response, and that would be hearsay from Mr. Brown.

THE COURT: Well, based on something Mr. Brown told you, is that why you went to explain the dogs to— It's not being offered for hearsay purpose, counsel.

THE WITNESS: Well, I went to a friend's house, and they was like, Calvin—

THE COURT: Oh—

THE WITNESS: --came over here and kicked the door in, put a – put the shotgun—

THE COURT: Okay. Well, wait a minute. Did you—let me—

MR. ERICSSON: Your Honor, if we may—

THE COURT: --move on. That is hearsay. So it's sustained.

3 AA 650.

This testimony did not constitute prior bad act evidence and was not elicited by the state. Therefore, a Petrocelli v. State, 110 Nev. 46, 692 P.2d 503 (1985) hearing was unnecessary. Arguably, this information was admissible as res gestae evidence. NRS 38.035(3); <u>Dutton v. State</u>, 94. Nev. 461, 464, 581 P.2d 856, 858 (1978). Further, the Court was of the belief that Webster's statement was not going to be coming in for hearsay purposes, but to show the effect it had on the listener, being Webster, and what she did thereafter, without any regard for whether the statement was true. The Court did not attempt to illicit bad act evidence from the witness. Moreover, the witness did not even finish her statements before the Court determined the testimony was inadmissible, and sustained defense counsel's objection. Therefore, the sustained objection cured any error. Further, the jury received instructions at the end of trial that any testimony where an objection was made and then sustained, is not to be considered. 5 AA 1093. Therefore, the District Court did not abuse its discretion and Appellant has failed to meet his burden that this unpreserved claim rises to the level of plain error or affected his substantial rights.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT ALLOWED PROPERLY OBTAINED STATEMENTS FROM APPELLANT INTO EVIDENCE

The Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution affords an individual the right to be informed, prior to custodial interrogation, that:

[H]e has the right to remain silent, that anything he says can be used against him in a court of law, that he has the right to the presence of an attorney, and that if he cannot afford an attorney, one will be appointed to him prior to any questioning if he so desires.

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